IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

IN RE JOHN HARRIS, JR.,

On Habeas Corpus.

Case No.: S272632

OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Court of Appeal Case No. A162891 San Mateo Superior Court Case No. 21-NF-002568A The Honorable Amarra A. Lee, Superior Court Judge

> Marsanne Weese (SBN 232167) Rose Mishaan (SBN 267565) Law Offices of Marsanne Weese 255 Kansas Street, Suite 340 San Francisco, CA 94103 Tel: (415) 565-9600 Fax: (415) 565-9601 Email: marsanne@marsannelaw.com

Attorneys for Petitioner by Appointment of the Court

ISSUES ON REVIEW

In the Order of review, the Court limited the issues to be briefed and

argued as follows:

What evidence may a trial court consider at a bail hearing when

evaluating whether the facts are evident or the presumption great with

respect to a qualifying charged offense, and whether there is a substantial

likelihood the person's release would result in great bodily harm to others?

(Cal. Const., art. I, § 12, subd. (b).)

INTRODUCTION

Petitioner has a constitutional right to release on reasonable bail unless and until the prosecution demonstrates to the court, with credible evidence, tested by the adversarial process, that the "facts are evident or the presumption great" and that granting bail would result in a "substantial likelihood of great bodily harm to others." In this case, the prosecution presented no such evidence, and it is impermissible for petitioner to be detained without bail based on mere assertions of counsel.

A trial court has three options when an arrestee is brought before it: own recognizance release, release on affordable bail, or detention without bail pursuant to article I, section 12 of the California Constitution (hereinafter "Section 12.") If the court detains the arrestee pursuant to Section 12, a high evidentiary burden must be met and procedural safeguards are required to ensure that an arrestee's state and federal due process rights are not violated.

This case concerns only those "limited exceptions" where detention without bail is sought under Section 12. (*United States v. Salerno* (1987) 481 U.S. 739, 755.) In those "narrow circumstances," the California Constitution and this Court have set forth some procedural framework and substantive standards necessary for a criminal defendant to be lawfully detained pretrial. (Cal. Const., art. I, § 12; *In re Humphrey* (2021) 11 Cal.5th 135, 143; *In re White* (2020) 9 Cal.5th 455, 470-471.) This Court is presented with the issue of what evidence a trial court may consider in determining whether those standards have been met.

Petitioner contends that the Court of Appeal erred in finding that his detention hearing complied with federal and state guarantees of due process and the standards of Section 12, as the bail hearing that transformed into a detention hearing lacked procedural safeguards. In particular, the court erred in finding the prosecution's use of untested, unsworn statements, which the trial court called a "proffer," was constitutional and sufficient to meet Section 12's evidentiary standards.

The core component of due process is *fairness*—if the government seeks to deprive someone presumed innocent under the law of so fundamental a right as liberty, the procedures used to secure that deprivation must be fair. Petitioner's detention hearing did not afford him the necessary procedural safeguards to be fair. His detention hearing 1) lacked evidence, 2) was not timely noticed, 3) lacked discovery, including but not limited to exculpatory evidence, 4) denied him the right of crossexamination, 5) did not provide for an expediated appellate process, and 6) did not provide for a sufficient remedy. Petitioner was permitted to have counsel and present evidence. However, given the lack of procedural safeguards, including the use of unreliable, untested, unsworn statements of

8

the prosecutor, the proceedings used to deny petitioner his liberty were not fair. Where a violation of due process results in the prolonged unlawful detention of an arrestee, the appropriate remedy is dismissal or release.

FACTUAL AND PROCEDURAL HISTORY¹

Petitioner was arraigned on a felony complaint on March 25, 2021, charging him with one count of attempted murder (Pen. Code, §§ 664/187, subd. (a)), with special allegations of being armed during the commission of a felony (Pen. Code, § 12022, subd. (d)) and great bodily injury (Pen. Code, § 1203.075), and one count of aggravated mayhem (Pen. Code, § 205), with a special allegation he was armed during the commission of a felony (Pen. Code, § 12022, subd. (d).) The alleged offenses occurred on March 4, 1989.

The prosecution alleged that petitioner broke into a woman's home, tied her up, raped her, and cut her throat. Several scarves were left at the scene. After 32 years, testing on DNA from the crime scene allegedly linked petitioner with the crime.

Petitioner's bail was set at \$5 million at arraignment, despite a pretrial services report recommending that petitioner be released on his own recognizance with enhanced monitoring. On April 16, 2021, petitioner

¹ Petitioner draws the relevant facts and procedural history from the Court of Appeal opinion. (Cal. Rules of Court, rule 8.500(c)(2).) Since this case presents issues of law rather than fact, petitioner herein provides an abbreviated factual summary.

moved the trial court to reduce bail to an affordable amount or release him on his own recognizance with appropriate conditions.

The prosecution filed an opposition in which they detailed the alleged facts of the case and included information gathered during a subsequent investigation, including that petitioner has a scarf fetish and acted on this fetish through consensual sex acts with various women in the more than three decades since the alleged offense. One of petitioner's exwives stated that petitioner kept a collection of scarves and told her that he used them for tying arms and legs. She told petitioner she was not into bondage and that type of sexual activity did not occur during their relationship. (Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus [hereinafter "Petition"], Exh. G, p. 55.) One ex-girlfriend described consensual role-playing during sex in which petitioner would tie her up and enact rape fantasies. Another ex-girlfriend also described consensual sexual encounters where petitioner would tie her to the bed and use scarves to gag her. Another of petitioner's ex-wives stated that petitioner occasionally placed a scarf over her mouth and eyes but that he was not that into bondage. (Petition, Exh. G, p. 56.) Finally, a woman who briefly dated petitioner reported that petitioner told her that he liked to be tied up during sex, although she never pursued a sexual relationship with him. (Petition, Exh. G, p. 57.) The prosecution also presented facts of petitioner's 1991 petty theft conviction in which he

pulled a scarf off a woman's neck and ran away. Petitioner has no other criminal history.

The trial court held a bail hearing on April 20, 2021. Petitioner argued that he was indigent and could not afford the \$5 million bail. During the bail hearing, the prosecution argued that petitioner should be detained without bail. Petitioner argued that to impose a no-bail pretrial detention, the prosecution must provide evidence of risk of flight or risk to public safety.

The prosecution presented no evidence, but rather relied on the unsworn statements in their written opposition and to the court. Petitioner objected to the untested, unsworn statements, which the trial court called a proffer. He also objected that he had not received exculpatory discovery, such as information that two other people were identified as the rapist shortly after the crime, including one who had been arrested for rape and who demonstrated a modus operandi similar to that displayed in the charged crime.

Petitioner further argued that he was missing discovery regarding the DNA evidence because the discovery received indicated that both petitioner and another person were implicated by DNA testing, and that he was missing exculpatory evidence related to another suspect who left a note on the victim's car saying "gotcha." (Petition, Exh. I, pp. 97-98, 100.)

Petitioner was also not provided the photographs that were presented to the court prior to the hearing and the reports summarizing the statements of petitioner's ex-girlfriends and ex-wives were provided to the defense the day before the hearing. (Petition, Exh. I, p 100.)

The victim, who was not identified and remains confidential, made an unsworn statement, asserting that she feared petitioner and urged the court not to release him. (Petition, Exh. I, pp. 95-96.) Petitioner was not afforded an opportunity to cross-examine her. (Petition. Exh. I, pp. 95-96.) While the prosecution initially requested that petitioner's bail remain at \$5 million, during the hearing, the prosecutor requested that petitioner be detained without bail instead. (Petition, Exh. I, p. 90.) At the conclusion of the hearing, the trial court ordered petitioner detained without bail.

Petitioner filed a Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus with the Court of Appeal, First Appellate District, on June 21, 2021. After briefing and oral argument, the Court of Appeal issued its published opinion on November 29, 2021. (*In re Harris* (2021) 71 Cal.App.5th 1085.) The Court of Appeal held "as a general matter, that proffers of evidence may satisfy section 12(b)'s clear and convincing evidence standard without offending federal or state due process principles." (*Id.* at p. 1101.) However, the court remanded the matter for the trial court to determine whether any less restrictive alternatives to detention would suffice to protect the government's interests. Petitioner filed a Petition for Review with this Court, which was granted on March 9, 2022.

ARGUMENT

It is elemental that "liberty is the norm, and detention prior to trial or without trial is the carefully limited exception." (*Salerno, supra,* 481 U.S. at p. 755.) Pretrial detention is not preferred and should only be imposed under certain limited circumstances. (*In re Avignone* (2018) 26 Cal.App.5th 195, 203, quoting *In re Weiner* (1995) 32 Cal.App.4th 441, 444; *Salerno, supra,* 481 U.S. at pp. 749, 755.)

When an arrestee appears before the trial court, the court should release him on his own recognize or affordable bail, except in limited circumstances when detention without bail is appropriate. (*Humphrey*, *supra*, 11 Cal.5th at p. 143.) In those limited circumstances where pretrial detention is sought, the prosecution must first meet the evidentiary burdens of Section 12 and then comply with due process. Here, neither standard was met.

I. THE PROSECUTION FAILED TO MEET THE HIGH EVIDENTIARY STANDARDS REQUIRED BY SECTION 12 FOR PRETRIAL DETENTION.

Pretrial detention in non-capital violent felony cases should only be imposed where "the facts are evident or the presumption great" *and* there is clear and convincing evidence of a "substantial likelihood" of "great bodily harm to others." (Cal. Const., art. I, § 12, subd. (b).)

Additionally, *Humphrey* requires that the trial court first find "by clear and convincing evidence that no condition short of detention could suffice and then ensure the detention otherwise complies with statutory and constitutional requirements," including due process. (*Humphrey, supra*, 11 Cal.5th at p. 143.) The issue then becomes, what evidence is sufficient to meet these constitutional standards?

A. "The Facts Are Evident or the Presumption Great" Standard Requires Evidence of Reasonable, Credible, and Solid Value.

This Court has defined Section 12's language that "the facts are evident or the presumption great" as requiring "evidence that would be sufficient to sustain a hypothetical verdict of guilt on appeal." (*White*, *supra*, 9 Cal.5th at p. 463.) As *White* noted:

> Whether that *evidentiary* threshold has been met is a question a reviewing court considers in the same manner the trial court does: by assessing whether the record, viewed in the light most favorable to the prosecution, contains enough *evidence* of *reasonable*, *credible*, *and solid value* to sustain a guilty verdict on one or more of the qualifying crimes.

(Id. at p. 463, emphasis added.)

Requiring this level of proof not only serves to make it less likely that innocent defendants are incarcerated pretrial, but also may serve to push back against the tendency of prosecutors to "overcharge" a case with the intent of incapacitating a defendant with higher bail or using the defendant's custody status as leverage in securing a conviction. (See *Id.* at p. 471.)

In *White*, that evidentiary standard was met by evidence presented at the preliminary hearing, which consisted of "sworn testimony from the victim herself and an audio recording of White's interviews with the investigating detectives – and … White had the opportunity to crossexamine witnesses and offer evidence." (*White, supra,* 9 Cal.5th at pp. 459, 470.)

White's holding is clear:

To deny bail under article I, section 12(b), a court must satisfy itself that the record contains not only *evidence* of a qualifying offense sufficient to sustain a hypothetical verdict of guilt on appeal, but also *clear and convincing evidence* establishing a substantial likelihood that the defendant's release would result in great bodily harm to others . . . Where both elements are satisfied and a trial court has exercised its discretion to deny bail, the reviewing court then considers whether that denial was an abuse of discretion.

(White, supra, 9 Cal.5th at p. 471, emphasis added.)

Thus, a non-evidentiary hearing with limited procedural safeguards is

simply not sufficient to meet this standard.

While dicta in *Humphrey* noted that the trial court should "assume

the truth of the criminal charges" for the purposes of determining bail

(*Humphrey, supra*, 11 Cal.5th at pp. 152-153), this is not a substitute for meeting the evidentiary burden of Section 12. Indeed, that statement was made in reference to article 1, section 28 of the California Constitution bail considerations, not Section 12 detention hearings. There is nothing in *Humphrey* that authorizes a trial court to sidestep the rigorous evidentiary requirements of section 12. Rather, the opposite is true. *Humphrey* emphasizes the requirement that any pretrial detention comport with procedural protections and federal and state principles of due process. (*Id.* at p. 143.)

This body of law makes clear that, in order to meet the Section 12 burden, evidence that is "reasonable, credible, and solid" is required. Here, the unsworn, untested statements presented to the trial court were speculative. The trial court defined these statements as proffer. As discussed in Section II, subsection C., proffered evidence is, by definition, speculative as to what the evidence would ultimately show and untested because the arrestee is unable to cross-examine the witness on the statements or obtain exculpatory statements from the witness. Thus, the prosecution failed to meet this evidentiary burden and, as such, the trial court's detention order was unlawful.

B. The Requirement of Clear and Convincing Evidence of Substantial Likelihood of Great Bodily Harm Requires Proof of an Identified and Articulable Threat.

In a Section 12 detention hearing, the prosecution must show by clear and convincing evidence that there is a substantial likelihood that great bodily harm would occur if the arrestee was released. "Clear and convincing evidence requires a specific type of showing – one demonstrating a "high probability" that the fact or charge is true." (*White, supra,* 9 Cal.5th at p. 467.) It requires that the evidence be "so clear as to leave no substantial doubt," or "sufficiently strong to command the unhesitating assent of every reasonable mind." (*In re Angelia P.* (1981) 28 Cal.3d 908, 919.)

As noted by the White Court of Appeal decision affirmed by this

Court:

This standard requires more than a mere possibility, and it cannot be based on speculation about the general risk to public safety if a defendant is released. Great bodily harm to others must be a substantial likelihood. While the term "cannot... be reduced to a rigid formula susceptible to mechanical application" [citation omitted], we observe that the standard requires more than simply a violent history. The trial court must be convinced that future violence amounting to great bodily injury is substantially *likely* if the defendant were released on bail.

(In re White (2018) 21 Cal.App.5th 18, 28, emphasis in original.)

In short, this standard requires a high threshold of evidence, not

speculation.

It is the duty of the reviewing court "to discard – as unreasonable – inferences which derive their substance from guesswork, speculation, or conjecture [citations omitted]." (*Birt v. Superior Court* (1988) 34 Cal.App.3d 934, 938.) A reasonable inference "may not be based on suspicion alone, or on imagination, speculation, supposition, surmise, conjecture, or guess work . . . A finding of fact must be an inference drawn from evidence rather than . . . a mere speculation as to probabilities without evidence." (*People v. Morris* (1988) 46 Cal.3d 1, 21, quoting *California Shoppers, Inc. v. Royal Globe Ins. Co.* (1985) 175 Cal.App.3d 1, 45.)

Thus, as noted in *Salerno*, quoted with approval in *Humphrey*, the government must prove by clear and convincing evidence that "an arrestee presents an identified and articulable threat to an individual or the community," before preventive detention can be ordered. (*Humphrey, supra*, 11 Cal.5th at p. 153, quoting *Salerno, supra*, 481 U.S. at p. 751.) Moreover, "courts should be somewhat cautious in basing a denial of bail on the alleged dangerous propensities of the defendant." (*In re Podesto* (1976) 15 Cal.3d 921, 936.)

Here, the court relied on unreliable, untested statements by the prosecution in detaining petitioner. These statements included allegations that petitioner had a scarf fetish. The Court of Appeal believed consensual acts involving scarves, "showed that petitioner consistently sought to exert sexual control over women involving fantasized violence and nonconsent." (*Harris, supra*, 71 Cal.App.5th at p. 1103.) The fact that the appellate court was willing to make such a speculative, sexist, and unsupported assumption demonstrates the issue with allowing such unreliable information at a detention hearing.

According to the prosecution's opposition, petitioner's wife of eight years declined to participate in any use of scarves or bondage during sex and petitioner respected that choice. (Petition, Exh. G, p.55.) Another exwife stated that petitioner was not into bondage. (Petition, Exh. G, p.56.) One ex-girlfriend expressed that it was actually petitioner who liked to be tied up. (Petition, Exh. G, p.57.) These are the untested, unsworn statements of the women that the *Harris* court believes were allegedly victimized through either consensual sex acts or petitioner's respect for their refusal to engage in such sex acts. They were not made available to provide context or further details to the trial court that would significantly impact the weight of the information presented. Based on these unreliable hearsay statements the appellate court then filled in the missing information with its own assumptions about what occurred. Such speculation is insufficient to meet the exacting standard of clear and convincing evidence. Therefore, the appellate court's decision was incorrect and should be

reversed.

C. Proffer Is Insufficient to Meet These Evidentiary Standards.

Proffer is, by nature, speculative. It is an interpretation of what counsel thinks evidence might show. The *Harris* court states that Section 12 does not define evidence as "evidence admissible at trial." (*Harris, supra*, 71 Cal.App.5th at p. 1097.) However, the meaning of the term "evidence" in Section 12 is not ambiguous and the plain meaning must govern. (See *Silicon Valley Taxpayers' Assn., Inc v. Santa Clara County Open Space Authority* (2008) 44 Cal.4th 431, 444-445.) To the extent that there is ambiguity in the language, the rule of lenity applies:

> It is the policy of this state to construe a penal statute as favorably to the defendant as its language and the circumstances of its application may reasonably permit; just as in the case of a question of fact, the defendant is entitled to the benefit of every reasonable doubt as to the true interpretation of words or the construction of language used in a statute.

(Keeler v. Superior Court (1970) 2 Cal.3d 619.)

So, any ambiguity in the term "evidence" should be construed in the manner most favorable to petitioner. Section 12 does not specifically state "proffered evidence." Therefore, the definition of evidence pursuant to Evidence Code section 140 should be followed. (See Evid. Code, § 300.)

Evidence Code section 140 defines "evidence" as "testimony,

writings, material objects, or other things presented to the senses that are offered to prove the existence or nonexistence of a fact." The Law Revision Commission Comments to that section explain that the term refers to admissible evidence or otherwise inadmissible evidence that is received by the court without objection. (Cal. Law Revision Com. com., Deering's Ann. Evid. Code foll. § 140.) The definition does not include "proffer," or a summary of asserted facts presented by counsel. This definition is confirmed by the Judicial Council's California Criminal Jury Instructions, stating that "[n]othing that the attorneys say is evidence." (CALCRIM 222.)

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