No. S272632

In the Supreme Court of the State of California

IN RE JOHN HARRIS, JR., ON HABEAS CORPUS.

First Appellate District, Case No. A162891 San Mateo County Superior Court, Case No. 21NF002568A The Honorable Amarra A. Lee, Judge

ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

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

arrestees. (*Id.* at p. 147.) "If not released, courts have observed, the accused may be impaired to some extent in preparing a defense." (*Ibid.*) Detention also heightens risks of other significant losses for an arrestee, including the possible loss of employment, a home, and custody of a child. (*Ibid.*)

The State also has particularly weighty interests. This Court has recognized that the State has compelling interests in protecting the safety of the victim and the public and in ensuring defendants' presence at trial. (Humphrey, supra, 11 Cal.5th at p. 143; see also *United States v. Salerno* (1987) 481 U.S. 739, 749 ["government's interest in preventing crime by arrestees is both legitimate and compelling"].) In addition, the State has significant interests in the fair and efficient administration of criminal proceedings. That includes the interest in avoiding the significant fiscal and administrative burdens on the prosecution, law enforcement officers, and courts that would be imposed by a requirement to rely on live witnesses at every pretrial detention hearing. (See *Ingram*, supra, 165 A.3d at p. 809; Edwards, supra, 430 A.2d at p. 1337 [noting government's "obvious interest" in not conducting two trials or their equivalent—"once for pretrial detention and a second time for the trial on the charges"].) It also includes avoiding unnecessary pretrial detention of those who can properly be released and its related financial and social costs. (See *Humphrey*, supra, 11 Cal.5th at p. 147.)

Harris does not dispute the importance of the State's interests in public and victim safety, but argues that reliance on

offers of proof leads to unacceptable risks of error. (See OBM 28-33.) He is correct to note that the reliability of information on which a detention decision is based is a central question in measuring the adequacy of pretrial detention proceedings. (See *id.* at p. 29.) Indeed, in the sentencing context, this Court has recognized that "[r]eliability of the information considered by the court is the key issue in determining fundamental fairness." (*People v. Arbuckle* (1978) 22 Cal.3d 749, 754-755.)

But it does not follow that imposing trial-like procedures at pretrial detention hearings is required. Rather, as this Court and the high court have held in other contexts, fundamental fairness does not categorically require the State to present live witnesses subject to cross-examination before depriving an individual of a protected liberty interest. (Arbuckle, supra, 22 Cal.3d at pp. 754-755.) For example, in *Arbuckle*, this Court rejected a due process challenge to the use of an expert report in a sentencing proceeding, even though the defendant had no opportunity to cross-examine the personnel who prepared it. (*Ibid.*) Likewise, in Gerstein v. Pugh (1975) 420 U.S. 103, the high court approved the use of informal modes of proof in making probable cause determinations, which are required before an "extended restraint of liberty following arrest." (Id. at p. 114; id. at pp. 119-122; see also Edwards, supra, 430 A.2d at pp. 1336-1337 [analogizing probable cause determinations to pretrial detention decisions].)

Consistent with these holdings, numerous state and federal courts have concluded that, in pretrial detention proceedings, courts may properly "reconcile the competing demands of speed

and of reliability" by evaluating the reliability of offers of proof and by "selectively insisting upon the production of the underlying evidence or evidentiary sources where their accuracy is in question." (*Acevedo-Ramos*, supra, 755 F.2d at p. 207.)⁵ The Court of Appeal correctly reached the same conclusion. (Opn. 16.)

Harris's contrary arguments rely principally on the Court of Appeal's decision in *Naidu v. Superior Court* (2018) 20 Cal.App.5th 300. (See OBM 31-33.) There, the court held that the superior court erred in suspending the defendants' contractor's licenses as a condition of bail, in the absence of evidence regarding whether the condition was necessary to protect the public. (*Naidu*, *supra*, at pp. 305, 319.) But the

⁵ See, e.g., Martir, supra, 782 F.2d at p. 1147 [recognizing magistrates' responsibility to "scrutinize government proffers for reliability . . . informed by an awareness of the high stakes involved"]; Whitaker, supra, 410 P.3d at p. 203 [showing of dangerousness "not bound by formal rules of evidence but instead focuses on judicial assessment of all reliable information presented to the court in any format worthy of reasoned consideration"]; id. at pp. 217-218 [requiring judges "to assess which information in any form carries sufficient indicia of reliability to be worthy of consideration by the court"; *Edwards*, supra, 430 A.2d at p. 1337 [prosecution "may proceed by the use of proffer and hearsay, subject to the discretion of the judge as to the nature of the proffer and the need for admissible evidence"]; Ingram, supra, 165 A.3d at pp. 809-810 [State not required to call live witnesses but court retains "discretion to require direct testimony if it is dissatisfied with the State's proffer"]; cf. State v. Zhukovskyy (N.H. 2021) 265 A.3d 27, 31-32 [discussing statute mandating use of proffer subject to court's discretion to order hearing with live testimony.

licensing board's submission there was quite different from the prosecution's offer of proof here. In *Naidu*, the licensing board submitted a declaration from counsel stating the board's position that, "based on the [criminal] charges" filed, the licensees were "unsafe to work as a contractor and should be deprived of that privilege pending completion" of criminal and administrative licensing proceedings. (*Id.* at p. 313, internal quotation marks omitted.) In contrast here, the prosecution presented a detailed summary of facts it had gathered and explained the sources for those facts. (*Ante* pp. 12-14.) To the extent Harris suggests that *Naidu* requires live witnesses and trial-like procedures in order to satisfy due process, that is not what the court held. (See *Naidu*, *supra*, at p. 314 [agreeing that a license suspension could "at least in some cases, be supported by no more than the return of an indictment or the filing of an information"].)⁶

Beyond courts' discretion to scrutinize offers of proof, other procedural protections short of trial-like procedures adequately protect a defendant's interest in avoiding an erroneous detention decision. (See *Moore v. Superior Court* (2010) 50 Cal.4th 802, 824 [examining other procedural protections in determining whether due process required further safeguards].) For example, arrestees will be represented by counsel at the hearing. (See Pen. Code, § 1270.1, subd. (b) [requiring court to appoint counsel for

⁶ To the extent that Harris also asserts arguments based on the Confrontation Clause (OBM 35), that right is "basically a trial right." (*People v. Miranda* (2000) 23 Cal.4th 340, 350-351, internal quotation marks and italics omitted.)

[Harris represented by counsel].) The People bear the burden of establishing the prerequisites to detention under a heightened standard: clear and convincing evidence. (*Humphrey, supra*, 11 Cal.5th at p. 153; see also *Addington, supra*, 441 U.S. at p. 423 [standard of proof "serves to allocate the risk of error between the litigants"].) The prosecutor is also an officer of the court, subject to the duty of candor and the special responsibilities of prosecutors. (Rules Prof. Conduct, rules 3.3, 3.8.) For example, a prosecutor may not present information to the court about the asserted bases for detention that is misleading, including misleading by omission. (Cf. *United States v. LaFontaine* (2d Cir. 2000) 210 F.3d 125, 131 [prosecutor disclosed in open court that witness providing information in proffer had previously lied to the grand jury].)

At the same time, arrestees may present facts to the judicial officer, by hearsay statements and otherwise, as Harris did here. (See ante pp. 10-11 [describing hearsay evidence presented by Harris]; OBM 29 [acknowledging Harris had right to present evidence and to testify].) Judges must set out their findings on the record and in the court minutes—a requirement that not only facilitates review but also "guard[s] against careless or rote decision-making." (Humphrey, supra, 11 Cal.5th at pp. 155-156.) And defendants are entitled to seek review through a petition for a writ of habeas corpus. (See, e.g., White, supra, 9 Cal.5th at p. 461; Pen. Code, § 1490 [defendant detained "for want of bail" may challenge bail through habeas petition].) These sorts of

procedures "are specifically designed to further the accuracy" of a court's determination regarding an arrestee's future dangerousness. (*Salerno*, *supra*, 481 U.S. at pp. 751-752.)

It is also significant that defendants may renew requests for release in light of new factual developments. (See *Moore*, supra, 50 Cal.4th at p. 825 [opportunities to reevaluate commitment determination "mitigate the effects of any 'error' in the commitment proceeding" attributable to the challenged procedure].) For example, defendants have the right to a preliminary hearing within ten court days of arraignment, which provides the opportunity for judicial confirmation that evidence, including reliable hearsay, supports the charges. (See Pen. Code, § 859b.) At the preliminary hearing, defendants have the right to cross-examine any witnesses who testify, which will generally include law enforcement witnesses with knowledge of investigative facts. (See id., § 872, subd. (b).) And if new facts emerge, or there are discrepancies between the facts relied on by the magistrate in denying pretrial release and the evidence disclosed at the preliminary hearing or in discovery, the accused may raise the issue again—at which point the court will be required to take any new showing into account and determine if continuing detention is justified or if alternative conditions could meet the State's interests. (See generally Pen. Code, § 1289) [providing that, "[a]fter a defendant has been admitted to bail," a court may, "upon good cause shown, either increase or reduce the amount of bail"].)

In addition, at trial, the prosecution must prove each element of the charged offense beyond a reasonable doubt. At that proceeding, the full panoply of trial protections, including the right to confront witnesses, applies.

Numerous federal courts of appeals and other courts have concluded that due process does not require trial-like procedures at detention hearings where procedural protections such as these are in place. (E.g., *United States v. Portes* (7th Cir. 1985) 786 F.2d 758, 767; *Winsor, supra*, 785 F.2d at pp. 756-757; *Smith, supra*, 79 F.3d at p. 1210; *Edwards, supra*, 430 A.2d at pp. 1333-1338; *Ingram, supra*, 165 A.3d at pp. 805-810.) Indeed, "decades of federal circuit and district court opinions, as well as state appellate decisions, have consistently" held that the federal Constitution does not require live witnesses at detention hearings. (*Whitaker, supra*, 410 P.3d at p. 215.) Harris offers no reason to depart from these authorities; indeed, the opening brief does not even cite them.

Finally, a prohibition on hearsay and offers of proof is not required to satisfy the additional, fourth factor considered under the state due process inquiry. This Court has already recognized that reliance on hearsay evidence does not impair an individual's dignitary interest in being informed of the nature of the action and in presenting his side of the story. (*People v. Otto* (2001) 26 Cal.4th 200, 215 [discussing Sexually Violent Predator Act proceeding].) In addition, arrestees' dignitary interests are fully served by other procedural safeguards, such as notice of the proceeding, the ability to present offers of proof or other forms of

evidence, and the requirement of a statement of reasons both on the record and in the minutes. Harris offers no persuasive reason why the analysis under the state due process clause should be any different than under the federal constitution.

C. The Court of Appeal correctly held that section 12 authorized Harris's pretrial detention

On review of a superior court's order denying release, an appellate court considers whether "the record, viewed in the light most favorable to the prosecution, contains enough evidence of reasonable, credible, and solid value to sustain a guilty verdict on one or more of the qualifying crimes" and "whether any reasonable trier of fact could find, by clear and convincing evidence, a substantial likelihood that the person's release would lead to great bodily harm to others." (White, supra, 9 Cal.5th at pp. 463, 465.) Here, the prosecution's offer of proof included ample evidence of Harris's guilt for the charged offenses, including his DNA found in semen on a scarf collected at the scene and in a vaginal swab from the victim. (Petn., Exh. G. at p. 54.) The evidence also demonstrated Harris's decades-long interest in using scarves to bind sexual partners. (Ante pp. 13-14.)

The record likewise contained sufficient facts to support the superior court's finding of clear and convincing evidence that Harris's release would likely lead to great bodily harm. For decades after the offense, he acted on his scarf fetish, using scarves to tie up sexual partners. (*Ante* pp. 13-14.) He hid scarves in his garage, telling a former partner not to touch them. (Petn., Exh. G at p. 55.) Two or three times per month over a tenyear period, he role-played fantasies, including that he was

breaking into his then-girlfriend's house and asking if her husband was home because "I am going to go in and rape you, don't say anything or I will kill you, something like that." (*Id.* at pp. 55-56.) On another occasion, he grabbed a scarf on the neck of a female stranger because of personal frustration he had been experiencing. (*Id.* at pp. 54-55.)

In addition, after Harris raped the victim in this case, he expressed concern that she would call the police. (Petn., Exh. G at p. 54.) After successfully evading detection for more than three decades, he has now been charged and knows that the victim is available to testify against him. These facts amply support the superior court's findings in support of its detention order.

The Court of Appeal, however, correctly ordered the case remanded. In *Humphrey*, this Court held that, before ordering detention based on safety concerns, courts must find clear and convincing evidence that no conditions of release could reasonably protect those interests. (11 Cal.5th at p. 153.) *Humphrey* further determined that courts must set forth the reasons for their decisions on the record and in the minutes. (*Id.* at p. 155.)

Here, while the superior court heard argument on alternatives to detention, it did not expressly set out reasons on the record why those alternatives could not reasonably protect victim and public safety. (Opn. 1, 20-24.) On remand, the superior court should make these findings and set them forth in the record and in the court's minutes.

II. HARRIS'S ARGUMENTS CONCERNING OTHER PROCEDURAL PROTECTIONS ARE NOT PROPERLY PRESENTED AND PROVIDE NO BASIS FOR RELIEF

Beyond contending that the superior court erred in considering the prosecution's offer of proof without requiring live witnesses subject to cross-examination, Harris claims that other procedural defects—relating to notice, discovery, and the speed of appellate review—violated his due process rights and warrant dismissal of the charges against him. (OBM 36-42.) These claims are not properly presented and in any event lack merit.

To begin with, Harris's claims are not encompassed within the issue on which this Court granted review. This Court limited the issues to be briefed and argued to "[w]hat evidence may a trial court consider at a bail hearing when evaluating" whether the elements of article I, section 12(b) are satisfied. (Order (Mar. 9, 2022).) Issues related to notice, discovery, and appellate review do not fairly fall within that question. (See Cal. Rules of Court, rule 8.516, subd. (a)(1) ["Unless the court orders otherwise, the parties must limit their briefs and arguments to those issues and any issues fairly included in them."].) Harris also did not raise these issues before the superior court or the Court of Appeal. That is another reason why the Court may decline to consider them. (See *id.*, rule 8.500, subd. (c)(1).)

In any event, none of Harris's contentions provides a basis for relief. He first contends that he did not receive notice before the hearing that the prosecution would make an alternative request for no bail. (OBM 36.) But the record here contradicts that claim. The prosecution's written opposition, filed the day before the hearing (and three days after Harris's motion was

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